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NATURE OF THE CASE

This litigation has its origins during a troubled period of plaintiff’s
life. While hospitalized at Advocate Good Samaritan Hospital following a
suicide attempt, plaintiff made a second attempt using a knife he had in
his pocket when he arrived at the hospital. Defendants Elizabeth A.
Kaveny and Burke Wise Morrissey & Kaveny, LLC (“the Kaveny
Defendants” tried plaintiff’s medical malpractice claims against the
hospital, securing a $4,243,588 verdict in his favor. (C218-19.) Plaintiff
then sued the Kaveny Defendants, alleging they violated the Mental
Health and Developmental Disabilities Confidentiality Act
(“Confidentiality Act”) by issuing a press release and commenting to the
press regarding that verdict. (C27/A1.) This appeal raises a question on the
pleadings as to whether plaintiff’s complaint states a claim under the
Confidentiality Act.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the plaintiff waive the confidentiality of mental health
information by providing detailed testimony and evidence regarding that
information during his medical malpractice trial?

2. Does the Mental Health and Developmental Disabilities
Confidentiality Act apply to communications made and records kept
outside the context of any mental health or developmental disabilities

services?
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Plaintiff's complaint alleged six counts against the Kaveny
Defendants. (C28—-55/A1-A29.) On April 5, 2018, the trial court dismissed
Counts I, II, III, and V with prejudice and dismissed Counts IV and VI
with leave to replead. (C375/A129.) After plaintiff filed an amended
complaint (C377), the trial court dismissed Count VI with prejudice on
October 4, 2018 (C810/A135). Three years later, seeking to appeal the
dismissal of his Confidentiality Act claim in Count I, plaintiff voluntarily
dismissed his sole remaining claim on September 9, 2021. (C1681-82,
C1683/A137.) Plaintiff’s timely notice of appeal (C1683/A138) vested the
appellate court with jurisdiction pursuant to Supreme Court Rules 301 and
303. IlI. S. Ct. Rs. 301, 303.

The appellate court’s opinion was published on October 7, 2022. Doe
v. Burke Wise Morrissey & Kaveny, Ltd. liability Co., 2022 IL App (1st)
211283. (A141.) This Court, having granted leave to appeal on January 25,
2023, has jurisdiction pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 315. Ill. S. Ct. R.

315.

INTRODUCTORY NOTE REGARDING PLAINTIFF’S
USE OF A F1CcTITIOUS NAME ON APPEAL

Plaintiff filed suit against the Kaveny Defendants under his proper
name in May 2017. (C27/A1.) By October 2018, the trial court had

dismissed five of the six counts plaintiff had pleaded against the Kaveny
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Defendants with prejudice. (C375/A129, C810/A135.) Plaintiff voluntarily
dismissed his remaining claim in September 2021 in order to pursue an
appeal as to his claim under the Confidentiality Act. (C1683/A137.)

After his appeal was fully briefed, but before the appellate court had
rendered a decision, plaintiff for the first time requested leave to proceed
under a fictitious name. The motion was granted without objection.
Consistent with that order, the Kaveny Defendants refer to plaintiff simply
as “plaintiff’ or as Doe throughout this brief. Because plaintiff did not seek
to proceed under a fictitious name until his appeal was fully briefed,
however, the entirety of the underlying record refers to plaintiff by his
given name. In the spirit of the order permitting plaintiff to proceed under
a fictitious name, the Kaveny Defendants have redacted each reference to
plaintiff’s given name in the record documents included in the appendix.

STATUTES INVOLVED

740 TLCS 110/2 (Lexis 2014)

The terms used in this Act, unless the context requires
otherwise, have the meanings ascribed to them in this
Section.

*kk

“Confidential communication” or “communication” means any
communication made by a recipient or other person to a
therapist or to or in the presence of other persons during or in
connection with providing mental health or developmental

disability services to a recipient. Communication includes

3
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information which indicates that a person is a recipient.
“Communication” does not include information that has been
de-identified in accordance with HIPAA, as specified in 45
CFR 164.514.

k%%

“Mental health or developmental disabilities services” or
“services” includes but 1s not limited to examination,
diagnosis, evaluation, treatment, training, pharmaceuticals,

aftercare, habilitation or rehabilitation.

*k%

“Record” means any record kept by a therapist or by an
agency in the course of providing mental health or
developmental disabilities service to a recipient concerning
the recipient and the services provided. “Records” includes all
records maintained by a court that have been created in
connection with, in preparation for, or as a result of the filing
of any petition or certificate under Chapter II, Chapter III, or
Chapter IV of the Mental Health and Developmental
Disabilities Code and includes the petitions, certificates,
dispositional reports, treatment plans, and reports of
diagnostic evaluations and of hearings under Article VIII of
Chapter III or under Article V of Chapter IV of that Code.
Record does not include the therapist’s personal notes, if such
notes are kept in the therapist’s sole possession for his own
personal use and are not disclosed to any other person, except
the therapist’s supervisor, consulting therapist or attorney. If
at any time such notes are disclosed, they shall be considered
part of the recipient’s record for purposes of this Act. “Record”
does not include information that has been de-identified in
accordance with HIPAA, as specified in 45 CFR 164.514.
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740 ILCS 110/3(a) (Lexis 2014)

(a) All records and communications shall be confidential and
shall not be disclosed except as provided in this Act.

740 TLCS 110/10 (Lexis 2014)

(a) Except as provided herein, in any civil, criminal,
administrative, or legislative proceeding, or in any proceeding
preliminary thereto, a recipient, and a therapist on behalf and
in the interest of a recipient, has the privilege to refuse to
disclose and to prevent the disclosure of the recipient’s record

or communications.

*kk

(8) Records or communications may be disclosed when such
are relevant to a matter in issue in any action brought under
this Act and proceedings preliminary thereto, provided that
any information so disclosed shall not be utilized for any other
purpose nor be redisclosed except in connection with such

action or preliminary proceedings.

740 TLCS 110/15 (Lexis 2014)

Any person aggrieved by a violation of this Act may sue for
damages, an injunction, or other appropriate relief.
Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs may be awarded to the
successful plaintiff in any action under this Act.

SUBMITTED - 22174300 - Kimberly Jansen - 4/5/2023 5:12 PM



129097

STATEMENT OF FACTS
I. The Underlying Medical Malpractice Litigation

While hospitalized following an initial suicide attempt, plaintiff
made a second attempt, sustaining extensive and life-threatening injuries.
(C29/A3.) Two years later, in July 2009, plaintiff filed a medical
malpractice suit, under his given name, against Advocate Good Samaritan
Hospital. (C29/A3.) The trial court record remains unsealed and open to
the public.?

A. History of Counsel in Underlying Action

He was represented at that time by the law firm Anesi Ozmon Rodin
& Novak. (C29/A3.) About a year later, the Anesi Ozmon firm filed
answers to interrogatories on plaintiff’s behalf, which included “the names
of the facilities where [Doe] received medical care, the names of [Doe’s]
treating physicians, and the dates of his treatment.” (C30—-31/A4-5.) The
answers to interrogatories were not filed under seal and, thus, were
publicly available as part of the court file. (C30/A4.)

Anesi Ozmon withdrew as counsel in July 2010, with Lawrence H.
Hyman & Associates and Searcy L. Simpson, Jr. entering appearances as

plaintiff’s new counsel. (C29/A3, C31/A5.) Lawrence H. Hyman &

1 See https://casesearch.cookcountyclerkofcourt.org, Case No. 2009 L
008290
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Associates withdrew just two months later, with Zachary M. Bravos
entering an appearance on plaintiff’s behalf. (C31/A5.)

In March 2014, nearly five years after the medical malpractice
lawsuit was first filed, the Kaveny Defendants entered their appearance,
substituting into the case in place of Simpson and Bravos. (C31/A5.) The
case proceeded to trial the following year. (C32/A6.)

B. Plaintiff’s Testimony in the Underlying Medical
Malpractice Litigation

At trial in his medical malpractice lawsuit, plaintiff offered deeply
personal testimony regarding his history of mental health struggles, his
suicide attempts, and his long road to recovery.

Plaintiff had experienced bouts of anxiety and depression beginning
in adolescence. (C169/A61-70/A61-62.) During high school, he had
experienced periodic panic attacks that were “really problematic.”
(C170/A62.) To manage his anxiety and depression, plaintiff saw a
psychiatrist anywhere from two to four times per year and took
prescription anti-anxiety medication. (C170/A62.)

During the first half of 2007, plaintiff began experiencing “troubling
dizzy spells.” (C169/A61.) Initially, these bouts of vertigo would go away
after a couple of hours, but over time the episodes increased in terms of
both frequency and duration. (C169/A61.) The vertigo became chronic

sometime in April or May. (C173/A65.) In addition, plaintiff’s relationship
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with a woman he cared about had ended in January of 2007. (C173/A65.)
Then a practicing tax attorney, plaintiff also had concerns related to his
business. (C173/A65.)

In August 2007, plaintiff testified, he reached the end of his rope.
(C174/A66.) In an attempt to commit suicide, plaintiff “took a lot of pills.”
(C172/A64.) After taking the pills, however, plaintiff had a change of heart
and swiftly called 911. (C174/A66.) After he arrived at the emergency
room, plaintiff’s stomach was pumped and he was transferred to the
critical care unit. (C175/A67.) After answering questions about how he was
feeling and indicating that he was still considering suicide, plaintiff was
transferred to the behavioral health unit of the hospital. (C175/A67.)

Plaintiff described his experience in the behavioral health unit.
(C176/A68.) “Everything is locked” and “[t]here’s no place where you can
really hurt yourself.” (C176/A68.) The rooms are “barren,” and the beds are
not comfortable. (C177/A69-78/A69-70.) There were no grab bars in the
bathrooms “because... they don’t want you anyplace where you can... hang
yourself.” (C177/A69.) In short, plaintiff “wasn’t happy... at all” about
being in the behavioral health unit. (C177/A69.)

On his first day in the behavioral health unit, having had the
clothes he arrived in returned to him, plaintiff discovered that he had a

knife in his pocket. (C177-78/A69-70.) He turned the knife over to a

SUBMITTED - 22174300 - Kimberly Jansen - 4/5/2023 5:12 PM



129097

member of the hospital staff. (C178/A70.) A few days later, however,
plaintiff took his knife back and brought it into his room. (C178/A70.)

On August 6, 2007, plaintiff began to cut himself. (C179-80/A71—
72.) Plaintiff recounted this suicide attempt in graphic and moving detail,
describing what he felt both physically and emotionally during the attempt
as well as the specific actions he took. (C180/A72.) After about two hours,
plaintiff laid his head down and either passed out or fell asleep.
(C181/A73.) A nurse found him the next morning. (C182/A74.)

Plaintiff showed the scars on his arms to the jury (C184/A76) and
described his long journey to recovery (C185-203/A77-95). After the
second suicide attempt, plaintiff was transferred to “3 North,” which he
described as “a locked unit within the locked unit.” (C187/A79.) The unit
was “a regular psych unit,” according to plaintiff, “completely bare” with
“furniture bolted to the floor.” (C188/A80.) His room had a bed and a
hospital tray. (C188/A80.) Most of the other patients in the unit stayed two
or three days and were, according to plaintiff, “severely psychotic people.”
(C188/A80.) Plaintiff remained at 3 North for 30 days. (C188/A80.)

After leaving Advocate Good Samaritan Hospital, plaintiff was
transferred to Alexian Brothers Hospital, in a ward similar to the
behavioral unit at Advocate. (C189-90/A81-83.) According to plaintiff,
“they’re big on art therapy” at Alexian Brothers and told plaintiff he

“didn’t know how to cope and [sic] stress” even though “that’s what [he] did
9
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for a living.” (C190/A83.) Everything was highly structured at Alexian
Brothers. (C190/A83.)

Of all the places plaintiff stayed from August 2007 through 2013, he
testified that the worst was a facility called Abbott House, a psychiatric
nursing home. (C190/A83.) He felt like they treated him “like beyond a kid”
there. (C191/A84.) He could never get a warm shower because the facility
controlled the temperature. (C191/A84.) Other patients there “had some
serious issues.” (C191/A84.) And plaintiff was not allowed to leave for the
first 30 days because of his suicidal history. (C191/A84.)

Plaintiff spent about a year at Elgin Hospital. (C192/A85.) Although
plaintiff “was terrified when [he] was going there” because he “had heard
horror stories about it,” he testified that “there were some really good
people there.” (C192/A85.) The food at Elgin, however, was terrible.
(C194/A86.)

After Elgin, plaintiff lived at Lawrence House for five years.
(C193/A86.) When plaintiff first arrived, “[t]hey had a guy who owned a
restaurant down there, and he would serve really good food.” (C194/A86.)
He was happy to be able to get a computer and a phone again: “Just start
thinking stuff you take for granted. Everything’s gone and then you get
back these things, it’s like wow.” (C194/A86.) He could go outside.

(C194/A86.)

10
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Plaintiff began working with a physiatrist at the Rehabilitation
institute of Chicago, Dr. Roth, in 2013. (C196/A88.) Dr. Roth works with
individuals who have suffered brain injuries. (C198/A90.) Dr. Roth
diagnosed plaintiff and recommended a brain injury cognitive
rehabilitative program. (C198/A90.) Plaintiff began that program in April
2013 and continued for 17 one-hour sessions. (C198/A90.) Plaintiff
described some of the exercises he learned during those sessions and
testified that the program helped. (C200-02/A92-94.) Plaintiff testified to
medications he was taking at the time of the medical malpractice trial,
including blood pressure medication, Klonopin for anxiety, and Adderall to
help with focus and attention. (C203/A95.)

Finally, plaintiff testified about his attempts to return to practice as
a lawyer. (C211/A103.) Although he had handled some pro bono cases, he
had not accepted any work from paying clients since the suicide attempt.
(C212/A104.) Plaintiff testified that, as a result of his brain injury, he was
no longer able to represent clients professionally. (C213/A105.) He testified
that his “biggest issues” at that point were “attention span, ability to stay
focused and concentrated.” (C213/A105.) He testified that he “fatigued very
easily,” both mentally and physically. (C213/A105.)

The jury returned a verdict in plaintiff’s favor, awarding him

$4,343,588 in damages. (C32/A6.)

11
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II. Plaintiff’s Action Against the Kaveny Defendants

Following the verdict, defendants issued a press release regarding
the outcome of the case, noting that the verdict was “a record high reported
verdict for an inpatient suicide attempt in Illinois.” (C60/A34.)

The press release briefly recounted the circumstances of the
Inpatient suicide attempt, including the facts that plaintiff had been
hospitalized following a failed suicide attempt, had been able to access his
boating knife while in the care of the inpatient psychiatric unit, and had
stabbed and slashed himself with the knife. (C60/A34.) The press release
noted that plaintiff suffered “a permanent brain injury resulting in loss of
executive functioning” and—despite “a remarkable recovery over eight
years’—would “never be able to return to his occupation or prior level of
functioning.” (C61/A35.)

Kaveny was additionally quoted in an article about the verdict
appearing in the Chicago Daily Law Bulletin. (C62/A37.) The firm’s
website was updated to include the press release noting this trial victory.
(C71/A45.)

Two years after the verdict, plaintiff brought this action against the
Kaveny Defendants, claiming the press release, comments to the media,
and update of the firm’s website all improperly disclosed his confidential
mental health information to the public. (C27/A1.) The complaint

extensively quoted from the press release, newspaper articles and the firm

12
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website. (C33—-34/A7-8, C36-37/A9-10.) Copies of the challenged press
release, newspaper articles, and various pages on the defendant firm’s
website were attached as exhibits. (C60-78/A34—110.) Plaintiff did not
seek to file his complaint under a fictitious name or to file any of the
materials under seal. The complaint is brought in plaintiff’'s given name
and remains open to the public2. (C27/A1.)

Plaintiff’s complaint asserted six separate causes of action against
the Kaveny Defendants: (1) violation of the Confidentiality Act; (2)
wrongful public disclosure of private facts; (3) intrusion upon seclusion; (4)
breach of fiduciary duty; (5) constructive trust; and (6) reckless infliction of
emotional distress. (C27/A1-55.) Plaintiff’'s Confidentiality Act claim (C42—
43/A16-17) 1s the sole claim at issue on appeal.

Before the trial court, the Kaveny Defendants argued that plaintiff’s
Confidentiality Act claim should be dismissed because: (1) there is no
therapeutic relationship between the Kaveny Defendants and plaintiff;
and (2) plaintiff waived the protections of the Confidentiality Act when his
mental health issues were publicly disclosed in the medical malpractice
litigation. (C101, C301-03.) Plaintiff countered that “even if the use of the

Plaintiff’s protected mental health information in the underlying medical

2 See https://casesearch.cookcountyclerkofcourt.org, Case No. 2017 L
004610.

13
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malpractice action was proper,” the Kaveny Defendants’ redisclosure of
that information to the press and on their website following the verdict
violated the Confidentiality Act. (C270.) Plaintiff argued that improper
redisclosure of protected information will subject even a non-therapist to
liability. (C270.)

Judge Brennan agreed with the Kaveny Defendants, ruling:

So, let’s go first with Count 1, where in essence
the defendant’s argument is that because there’s
not this therapeutic relationship between the
defendant and their former client, Mr. Sandler,
the plaintiff in this action, that, in fact, no cause
of action can be maintained under the Illinois
Mental Health and Disabilities Confidentiality
Act.

The plaintiff has responded that they weren’t
proceeding under that section of the act that the
defendants had referred to, but, in fact, were
saying that the redisclosure is the basis.

The defendants have replied that, in fact, by the
statements being made in a public trial that
there has been a complete waiver under 10(a)(1)
of this act. And, therefore, that no cause of action
can be made because of that.

It is the court’s position that I think that [Quigg]
versus Walgreen is very clear as to the need for
therapeutic relationship. I think it’s also very
clear given that this was following a public trial
and trials are public. And for these reasons,
Count 1 1s dismissed.

(C546/A125.) In its April 5, 2018, Order, the trial court dismissed
plaintiff’s Confidentiality Act claim with prejudice “for the reasons stated

on the record.” (C375/A129.)
14
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Having been granted leave to replead as to Counts IV and VI of his
original Complaint (C375/A129), plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint
(C377). The Amended Complaint again included plaintiff’'s Confidentiality
Act claim as Count I, adding a disclaimer that acknowledged that Count I
had been dismissed with prejudice and was “being re-pled herein solely to
preserve the Plaintiff’s right to seek appellate review.” (C397.) Disclaimer
notwithstanding, defendants pointed out that “Count I in the Amended
Complaint contains allegations different from” the previously dismissed
Count I in the original Complaint, and asked that this re-pled count be
stricken. (C478.)

In its October 4, 2018, Order, the trial court agreed with defendants,
“vehemently” rejecting plaintiff’'s suggestion that “because Defendants’
arguments for dismissing Count I are procedural in nature they are
somehow not worthy of consideration.” (C807/A132.) “By failing to comply
with proper procedure,” the trial court admonished, plaintiff “transformed
a routine motion to dismiss into a three-pronged motion to dismiss, for
leave to file an amended complaint and to reconsider.” (C807/A132.) Count
I of the Amended Complaint was stricken without leave to replead.
(C810/A135.)

A year-and-a-half later, plaintiff moved for reconsideration of the
trial court’s April 5, 2018, order dismissing Count I as well as the October

4, 2018, order dismissing Count I “as amended.” (C944.) This time plaintiff

15
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argued that the Kaveny Defendants violated the Confidentiality Act
because his mental health information was “protected health information”
under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
(“HIPAA”). (C944.)

The trial court rejected this argument and declined to reconsider the
dismissal. (C1267.) After voluntarily dismissing his sole remaining claim
(C1683/A137), plaintiff appealed (C1683/A138).

ITI. The Appellate Court’s Opinion

The appellate court reversed. (A141)

First, the appellate court held that the absence of a therapeutic
relationship did not shield defendants from liability because another panel
of the appellate court had “permitted a claim under the Act even where the
defendant was not a provider of mental health services.” Doe, 2022 IL App
(1st) 211283 at g 15 (citing Johnson v. Lincoln Christian College, 150 I1l.
App. 3d 733 (4th Dist. 1986)). (A146.)

In addition, the appellate court held that plaintiff did not waive the
confidentiality of his mental health information through his public
disclosure at the medical malpractice trial. Id. at 4 17. (A147.) The
appellate court acknowledged this Court’s holding in Novak v. Rathnam,
106 I11. 2d 478, 486 (1985), that a party’s waiver of the confidentiality in
one proceeding will be regarded as a waiver of confidentiality in future

proceedings. Nevertheless, the appellate court held that Novak did not

16
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apply because a qualified protective order had been entered under HIPAA
in the medical malpractice litigation. Doe, 2022 1L App (1st) 211283 at
917. (A147.)

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

The standard of review for dismissal of a complaint under § 2—615 of
the Code of Civil Procedure is de novo. Nyhammer v. Basta, 2022 1L
128354, q 23

I1. Plaintiff’s voluntary public disclosure of his mental health
information took away its confidentiality.

A. Under Novak and Norskog, plaintiff irrevocably waived
his Confidentiality Act privilege.

This Court’s holding in Novak v. Rathnam, 106 I11. 2d 478, 485
(1985), 1s dispositive: trial testimony is a public disclosure, and the public
disclosure of information destroys its confidentiality. Novak involved a
claim of privilege by psychiatrist Allen Rathnam and psychologist David
Girmscheid regarding their treatment of Robert Lee Endicott during his
involuntary commitment at Zeller Mental Health Center. Id. at 480—81.
After Rathnam and Girmscheid approved his discharge, Endicott shot and
killed Beverly Novak. Id. at 480. Endicott was tried for the murder in
Florida. Id.

In support of his insanity defense, Endicott introduced “his Zeller

medical records, including a discharge summary and a psychiatric
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evaluation prepared by Rathnam and Girmscheid, which detailed their
diagnosis and treatment of Endicott while a patient at Zeller.” Id.
Rathnam, one of four psychiatrists called by Endicott, “was questioned
about the reports and testified in detail as to the treatment Endicott
received while at Zeller.” Id. at 480—81. Endicott was found not guilty by
reason of insanity. Id. at 481.

Following Endicott’s acquittal, Beverly’s father brought a wrongful
death action against Rathnam and Girmscheid alleging they were
negligent in approving Endicott’s discharge from Zeller. Id. at 479-80.
Both Rathnam and Girmscheid refused to be deposed in the wrongful
death action, asserting Endicott’s privilege under the Confidentiality Act.
Id. at 480-81.

On appeal, this Court affirmed the trial court’s order compelling
Rathnam and Girmscheid to sit for depositions. First, the court noted that
Endicott had waived the privilege at his criminal trial by asserting the

insanity defense:

[W]hen a defendant raises an insanity defense and calls his
own medical expert as a witness to establish the defense, he
cannot thereafter assert the privilege to prevent the State, at
the same trial, from calling other medical experts who treated

him for the same condition.

Id. at 483.
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This Court further held that Endicott’s waiver of confidentiality at

his murder trial was irrevocable:

If there is a disclosure of confidential information by the
individual for whose benefit the privilege exists, or if he
permits such a disclosure, the privilege is waived and cannot

be reasserted.

Id. at 484. “The public disclosure by Endicott of information protected by
the Act... took away its confidentiality.” Id. at 485.

This Court distinguished Novak in Norskog v. Pfiel, 197 I1l. 2d 60
(2001). In that case, Steven Pfiel initially gave notice that he intended to
assert an insanity defense, but ultimately pled guilty to two murders and
was sentenced to life imprisonment. Id. at 63. The parents of one of
Steven’s victims sought discovery of Steven’s mental health records in
their wrongful death action against Steven and his parents, arguing that
Steven had waived his Confidentiality Act privilege by raising an insanity
defense in the criminal proceedings. Id. at 73.

The Illinois Supreme Court disagreed, explaining that, unlike
Endicott, Steven never went to trial in his criminal case. Id. at 75. Once he
pled guilty, his anticipated insanity defense was no longer in issue. Id. at
76. Further, “no psychiatrist or mental health therapist ever made a public
disclosure of Steven’s mental health records or testified in open court

regarding mental health treatment Steven had received.” Id. Under the
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circumstances in Norskog, no waiver of the Confidentiality Act Privilege
had occurred.

Taken together, Novak and Norskog define the circumstances under
which an irrevocable waiver of the Confidentiality Act privilege occurs:
when (1) a party places his mental health information at issue in a civil or
criminal proceeding; and (2) confidential mental health information is
publicly disclosed in open court.

That is precisely what occurred here: (1) plaintiff placed his mental
health information squarely at issue when he asserted medical malpractice
claims against his mental health care providers; and (2) plaintiff publicly
disclosed his mental health information by testifying in detail at the
medical malpractice trial. Plaintiff’s public disclosure of this information
“took away its confidentiality.” Novak, 106 I1l. 2d at 485. The Kaveny
Defendants could not violate the Confidentiality Act by disclosing
information that was no longer confidential.

B. The existence of a qualified protective order under

HIPAA does not cast a cloak of confidentiality over
publicly disclosed information.

The appellate court’s refusal to follow Novak rests on a profound
misunderstanding of both the rationale for the holding in Novak and the
purpose of a qualified protective order under HIPAA.

First, this Court’s holding in Novak rests on the simple logic that

once information has been publicly disclosed, that information is no longer
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confidential. Novak, 106 Il1. 2d at 485. There is no dispute that the mental
health information at issue here was publicly disclosed in its entirety
during the medical malpractice trial. As detailed above, plaintiff testified
in depth during that trial about his history of depression and anxiety, the
initial suicide attempt that led to his hospitalization, the suicide attempt
that occurred during his hospitalization, his continued hospitalization and
care at a series of institutions following the suicide attempts, his diagnosis
and treatment for a brain injury following his suicide attempts, the
ongoing cognitive difficulties that prevented his return to practice as an
attorney, and the medications he was taking to treat his mental health
conditions. (Supra, pp. 5-9, C169-213/A61-105.) Plaintiff has never
claimed that the Kaveny Defendants ever revealed mental health
information beyond what had been publicly disclosed during trial.

The appellate court’s opinion does not explain how the existence of a
qualified protective order under HIPAA changes anything. The qualified
protective order simply allowed the parties and their attorneys access to
plaintiff’s protected health information through “formal discovery requests,
subpoenas, depositions, pursuant to a patient authorization or through
attorney-client communications.” (C1132-33.) The order did not seal any
part of the record in the medical malpractice litigation and did not change

the fact that the trial was open to the public. The qualified protective order
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did not govern what evidence plaintiff chose to present during that trial or
what testimony he chose to provide.

The appellate court held “that the information shared at the medical
malpractice trial had restrictions on its use, such that Doe did not waive
the Act’s protections by testifying.” Doe v. Burke Wise Morrissey & Kaveny,
LLC, 2022 IL App (1st) 211283, 9 17. (A147.) In support, the appellate
court pointed to the Second District’s opinion in Haage v. Zavala observing

that qualified protective orders:

restrict how health information is used, prohibiting “the
parties from using or disclosing [the information] for any

purpose other than the litigation or proceeding for which such

[143

information was requested,” and requiring “the return to the

covered entity or destruction of [the information]...at the end
of the litigation or proceeding.”

1d. (quoting Haage v. Zavala, 2020 IL App (2d) 190499, 9 9 and 45 C.F.R.
§ 164.512(e)(1)(v)(A), (B)) (alterations in Doe). (A147.) Although the
appellate court did not elaborate, it appears the court read this language
as suggesting that all mental health information revealed by the evidence
and testimony presented must somehow be returned or destroyed once a
trial has concluded, restoring its confidentiality.

The appellate court’s misunderstanding of the function of a HIPAA
qualified protective order is reflected in the alteration it made in its
quotation of the language of the Privacy Rule. Id. (A147.) The rule does not

prohibit the disclosure or require the return or destruction, generically, of
22
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“the information.” Rather, a qualified protective order under the rule must
prohibit the disclosure and require the return or destruction “of the
protected health information.” 45 C.F.R. § 164.512(e)(1)(v)(A), (B)
(emphasis added).

“Protected health information” does not simply mean any and all
information related to an individual’s health. Rather, “protected health
information” is a defined term limited to “individually identifiable health
information.” 45 C.F.R. § 160.103. “Individually identifiable health
information” is likewise a defined term limited to information “created or
received by a health care provider, health plan, employer, or health care
clearinghouse.” 45 C.F.R. § 160.103. As testimony and other evidence
presented at a public trial is not “created or received by a health care
provider, health plan, employer, or health care clearinghouse,” such
testimony or evidence is not “protected health information.”

The qualified protective order did not seal the record in the medical
malpractice trial, nor did it close the proceedings to the public. Because the
“common law right of access to court records is essential to the proper
functioning of a democracy” (Skolnick v. Altheimer & Gray, 191 Ill. 2d 214,
230 (2000)), “[jJudicial proceedings in the United States are open to the
public—in criminal cases by constitutional command, and in civil cases by
force of tradition” (A.P. v. M.E.E., 354 111. App. 3d 989, 993 (1st Dist.

2004)). Consistent with these weighty principles, plaintiff’'s medical
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malpractice trial remained open to the public. Every detail revealed at that
trial regarding plaintiff’s mental health condition and treatment became a
matter of public record; no confidentiality remained. Novak, 106 I1l. 2d at
485.
Accordingly, the judgment of the appellate court must be reversed
and the judgment of the trial court affirmed.
III. The protection afforded by the Confidentiality Act is limited
to records kept and communications made in the course of

providing mental health and developmental disabilities
services.

The appellate court should additionally be reversed and the trial
court affirmed because the post-verdict statements by the Kaveny
Defendants are outside the scope of the Confidentiality Act’s protections.

The Confidentiality Act shields from disclosure “records and
communications.” 740 ILCS 110/3. “Record” is defined as “any record kept
by a therapist or by an agency in the course of providing mental health or
developmental disabilities service to a recipient concerning the recipient and the
services provided.” 740 ILCS 110/2 (emphasis added). “Communication”
means “any communication made by a recipient or other person to a therapist
or to or in the presence of other persons during or in connection with providing
mental health or developmental disability services to a recipient.” Id. (emphasis

added). A connection with the provision of mental health or developmental
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disabilities services is thus a prerequisite to the protections of the
Confidentiality Act.

Communications made by plaintiff to his attorneys, testimony and
other evidence presented in open court, and records of the proceedings in
the medical malpractice action all fall outside the scope of the
Confidentiality Act because these communications and records were made
and kept in connection with litigation, not in connection with providing
mental health services. This is precisely the distinction recognized by this
Court in Johnston v. Weil, 241 I11. 2d 169 (2011),

In Johnston, a court-appointed psychiatrist (Dr. Phyllis Amabile)
conducted an independent evaluation of Heather Johnston pursuant to
§ 604(b) of the Illinois Marriage and Dissolution of Marriage Act to assist
the court in resolving a post-dissolution custody dispute between Johnston
and her first husband. Id. at 171. Johnston’s second husband sought to
subpoena Dr. Amabile for purposes of his own custody dispute with
Johnston, but the circuit held that Dr. Amabile’s report was not
discoverable. Id. at 172.

Johnston subsequently sued both ex-husbands, their attorneys, and
the child representatives in each proceeding alleging that the first
husband and his attorneys improperly disclosed confidential information
from Dr. Amabile’s report to the second husband and his attorneys in

violation of the Confidentiality Act. Id. This Court held that the
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Confidentiality Act did not apply because Dr. Amabile was not providing
mental health services to Johnston:
In the present case, Dr. Amabile was not
retained as a therapist to treat plaintiffs. Rather,
she was acting as an independent section 604(b)
professional, whose sole function was to make an
evaluation for the circuit court to consider. Since
Dr. Amabile and plaintiffs were not engaged in a

therapeutic relationship, the Confidentiality Act
does not apply.

Id. at 183—-84 (emphasis added).

The appellate court reached the same conclusion in Quigg v.
Walgreen Co., 388 I1l. App. 3d 696 (2nd Dist. 2009). In Quigg, the appellate
court held that the Confidentiality Act did not apply to an allegedly
improper disclosure of a patient’s “prescription profile” via the defendant
pharmacy’s website. “Because Walgreen acted purely as a pharmacist, it
was not engaged in a therapeutic relationship with plaintiff” and thus was
“not subject to liability under the Act.” Id. at 703.

The appellate court held precisely the opposite in this case,
concluding that the existence of a therapeutic relationship was
unnecessary to invoke the protection of the Confidentiality Act: “That
defendants themselves were not providing [plaintiff] mental health
services does not relieve them of potential liability.” Doe, 2022 IL App (1st)
211283 at 9 15. (A145.) The appellate court in this case rejected Quigg as

“unsupported by authority,” id at § 19 (A148), and did not address
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Johnston. The appellate court additionally attempted to distinguish Quigg,
reasoning that unlike “a pharmacy-customer interaction, Doe’s records and
communications were created in the course of addressing Doe’s mental health
in the presence of physicians and nurses, who were ‘therapists’ under the Act.”
Id. at 9 18. (A148.)

The appellate court relied on Johnson v. Lincoln Christian College,
150 I1I. App. 3d 733 (4th Dist. 1986), for the proposition that “Illinois has
permitted a claim under the Act even where the defendant was not a provider
of mental health services.” Id. at § 15. (A146.) The appellate court’s reliance
on Lincoln Christian College reflects its misunderstanding regarding the
scope of the Confidentiality Act. The determinative issue is the nature of
the records or communications, not the professional status of the
defendant. That is, the Confidentiality Act’s protections do not turn on
whether the defendant was a therapist or other provider of mental health
or developmental disability services; rather, the Act’s protections depend
on whether the records or communications in question were created or
made in the course of such services.

In Lincoln Christian College, plaintiff Gregory Johnson was enrolled
in a “program to prepare him for a career teaching sacred music.” Lincoln
Christian College, 150 Ill. App. 3d at 736. Based on another student’s claim
that Johnson might be gay, however, the college repeatedly refused to

grant him his diploma. Id. Relying on the college’s assurances that he
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would be allowed to graduate if he sought counseling from Kent Paris,
Johnson attended private counseling sessions with Paris. Id.

Without Johnson’s consent to disclosure, Paris reported to the dean
of students Thomas Ewald that Johnson “had not changed and was not
progressing.” Id. In response, Dean Ewald informed Johnson that the
college intended to “hold a hearing in less than 24 hours at which Johnson
would be required to defend himself against the rumor that he was” gay.
Id. at 737. Understanding that he would be dismissed from the college
regardless of what happened at the hearing, Johnson withdrew from the
college. Id. The college held the hearing anyway, in Johnson’s absence, and
Dean Ewald called Johnson’s mother afterwards to inform her that the
college “was dismissing Johnson because he was homosexual.” Id.

Plaintiff sued both Paris and Lincoln Christian College. Id.
Reversing the trial court’s dismissal of the college, the appellate court held
that Dean Ewald violated § 5(d) of the Confidentiality Act by redisclosing
Johnson’s confidential communications without his consent. Id. at 744. The
appellate court suggested that the Kaveny Defendants’ post-verdict
statements in this case similarly violated § 5(d) by redisclosing confidential
information. Doe, 2022 1L App (1st) 211283 at 9 16. The appellate court
was wrong for two reasons.

First, § 5(d) applies solely to “records and communications” as

defined in the Confidentiality Act—that is, records and communications
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made or kept in the course of providing mental health services. 740 ILCS
110/2. Nothing in Lincoln Christian College suggests that communications
made or records kept outside the context of a therapeutic relationship are
subject to the protection of the Confidentiality Act. Although Dean Ewald
did himself not provide mental health services to Johnson, the
communications which Paris disclosed to Dean Ewald and which Dean
Ewald then redisclosed to Johnson’s mother were communications Johnson
had made in the course of his therapeutic relationship with Paris. Lincoln
Christian College, 150 Ill. App. 3d at 742. The evidence and testimony
presented at plaintiffs medical malpractice trial, in contrast, were not
records or communications made in the course of mental health services.
In addition, § 5(d) prohibits redisclosure of information by any
“person or agency to whom any information is disclosed under this
Section.” 740 ILCS 110/5(d) (emphasis added). Section 5 of the
Confidentiality Act addresses disclosures made “with the written consent
of those persons who are entitled to inspect and copy a recipient’s record
pursuant to Section 4” of the Confidentiality Act. 740 ILCS 110/5(a). As
Lincoln Christian College made clear, § 5(d) prohibits redisclosure not only
of information disclosed pursuant to written consent but also to disclosures
for which such written consent was required but not obtained. Lincoln
Christian College, 150 I1l. App. 3d at 744. Plaintiff has never argued, and

the appellate court did not hold, that the Kaveny Defendants redisclosed
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any record or communication that had been disclosed to them pursuant to
a written consent or for which written consent was required.

The appellate court instead indicated that the Kaveny Defendants
had redisclosed information which had been disclosed under the authority
of § 10(a)(1) of the Confidentiality Act. Doe, 2022 IL App (1st) 211283 at
9 16. (A146.) Under § 10(a)(1), “Records and communications may be
disclosed in a civil... proceeding in which the recipient introduces his
mental condition or any aspect of his services received for such condition
as an element of his claim or defense.” 740 ILCS 110/10(a)(1). According to
the appellate court, “Section 10(a)(1) authorized disclosing Doe’s records
and communications for the medical malpractice litigation, but defendants’
alleged subsequent broadcast of Doe’s mental health history appears to be
beyond the bounds of that proceeding.” Doe, 2022 1L App (1st) 211283 at
9 16. (A146.)

To be sure, § 10(a)(1) did provide authority for parties other than
Doe to disclose protected records and communications within the context of
the medical malpractice litigation. Doe himself, however, needed no such
authorization. While Doe held a “privilege to refuse to disclose and to
prevent the disclosure of [his] record or communications,” 740 ILCS
110/10(a), he of course had no obligation to exercise that privilege. That is,
plaintiff was free to disclose his own mental health records and

communications whenever and to whomever he chose.
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Plaintiff made the decision to disclose the extensive details
regarding his mental health history, treatment, and ongoing struggles at
the medical malpractice trial. Once disclosed in that public forum,

§ 10(a)(1) does not—and, arguably, could not—prohibit redisclosure of that
information, whether by attorneys, the media, or simply interested
observers looking to talk about a public trial.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Defendants-Petitioners, Burke Wise Morrissey &
Kaveny, LLC, an Illinois Professional Limited Liability Company, and
Elizabeth A. Kaveny, LLC, respectfully request that the judgment of the
appellate court be reversed and that this Court affirm the trial court’s
judgment dismissing the Confidentiality Act claim with prejudice.
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110.  Rule 1.4 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct provides, in pertinent part, as follows:
(@) A lawyer shall:

(1) promptly inform the client of any decision or circumstance
with respect to which the client’s informed consent, as
defined in Rule 1.0(e), is required by the Rules;

(2) reasonably consult with the client about the means by which
the client’s objectives are to be accomplished;

3) keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the
matter;

L S S S

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably
necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions
regarding the representation.

111. Rule 1.7 of the Ilinois Rules of Professional Conduct provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), a law shall not represent
aclient if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of
interest. A concurrent conflict of interest exists if: * * * (2)
there is a significant risk that the representation of one or
more clients will be materially limited . . . by a personal
interest of the lawyer.

112. Rule 1.8(b) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct provides, in pertinent part, as
follows:
(b) A lawyer shall not use information relating to the
representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client

unless the client gives informed consent, except as permitted
or required by these Rules.
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INTHE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINO} .
. COUNTY DEPARTMENT - LAW DIVISION

Plaintift,

V. No. 09 L-008290

SAPANA CHOKSHI, M.D., etal.

Defendants.
ORDER

This cause coming on to be heard on the motion of plaintift, |||} [ tor
entry of an order allowing BURKE WISE MORRISSEY & KAVENY to substitute in
as attorneys of record for plaintiff, |} [l and for LAW OFFICES OF SKIP
SIMPSON and ZACHARY M BRAVOS LAW OFFICES to withdraw their

appearances as attorneys of record for plaintift, [||jl} NN
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED:

.  BURKE WISE MORRISSEY & KAVENY is granted leave to file its f/‘ﬁ
Substitution of Attorneys on behalf of plaintiff, |||} I i»s/anter: ( J@qu

2. LAW OFFICES OF SKIP SIMPSON is granted leave to withdraw as( IQ 30">
attorneys for plaintift, [l I i»s:anrer; and [ /l/%/7
3. ZACHARY M BRAVOS LAW OFFICES is granted leave to withdraw as ’ \
attorneys for plaintifY, Jj Sandler, instanrer. <%//%
Searcy L. Simpson, Jr. Zachary M. Bravos
Law Offices of Skip Simpson Zachary M. Bravos Law Offices
2591 Dallas Parkway, Suite 300 600 W. Roosevelt Rd. Suite B}
Frisco, TX 75034 Wheaton, [L 60187
214-618-8222 630-510 1300

Elizabeth Kaveny

Burke Wise Morrissey Kaveny
161 N. Clark Street, Suite 3250
Chicago, 1L 60601
312-580-2040

f’-mg-a Kathy M. Flaiages
——— i
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

April 05, 2018
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Page 1
o 1 STATE OF ILLINOIS)
g
S 2 ) SS:
a
> 3 COUNTY OF C O O K)
3 4 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
Lo}
§ 5 COUNTY DEPARTMENT - LAW DIVISION
=
Li 6
.2
o
9 7 )
= Plaintiff, )
8 vsS. ) No. 2017 L 4610
BURKE WISE MORRISSEY & )
9 KAVENY, LLC, an Illinois )
Professional Limited )
10 Liability Company, DAVID )
J. RASHID, and ELIZABETH )
11 A. KAVENY, individually, )
and as agents, servants, )
12 and employees oxr BURKE )
WISE MORRISSEY & KAVENY, )
13 LLC, an Illinois )
Professional Limited )
14 Liability Company, jointly )
and severally, )
15 Defendants. )
16 REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS at the motion of
17 the above-entitled cause before the Honorable
18 MARGARET BRENNAN, Judge of said Court, on the
19 5th day of April, 2018, at the hour of 10:50 a.m.
20
21
22
23 REPORTED BY: Jamye Giamarusti, CSR
24 LICENSE NO. : 084-004183
U.S. Legal Support, Inc.

C 531
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
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recoverable damages. Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s request for lost future earnings is barred
by judicial estoppel because he was already awarded damages for that injury in the 2015
litigation. Additionally, Plaintiff may not recover emotional distress damages under a breach of
fiduciary duty claim because the press release regarding the trial results was not particularly
likely to result in the extreme emotional disturbance. Further, Plaintiff cannot recover punitive
damages in this case, as it is a legal malpractice action. Additionally, Plaintiff cannot recover
attorneys’ fees, as there is no conftractual or statutory provision which provides for them. Next,
Defendants argue that Count V should be dismissed because emotional distress damages are not
available in this case which is essentially a malpractice action. Further, the alleged misconduct of
releasing a press release is not the type of action that qualifies as exweme and outrageous
conduct. Additionally, Plaintiff’s allegations regarding the high probability that Defendants’
conduct would cause emotional distress in entirely conclusory. Finally, Plaintiff fails to include
sufficient factual allegations demonstrating that he actually suffered extreme emotional distress.

In response, Plaintiff argues that when Defendants publicized Plaintiff’s mental health
information, which was obtained under a HIPAA Protective Order, they violated the Illinois
Mental Health and Developmental Disabilities Confidentiality Act (“MHDDCA?”). Plaintiff then
goes on to argue that the application of the Act is not limited only to those in a therapeutic
relationship, and to hold otherwise would destroy the protections of the Act. Further, Plaintiff
only waived his privilege over this information for the limited purpose of conducting the trial.
Next, Plaintiff argues that Count IV should not be dismissed because Plaintiff did not act in bad
faith or with the intent to deceive when he brought this lawsuit and the previous underlying
lawsuit, therefore he cannot be judicially estopped from bringing these claims. Further, Plaintiff
may collect for emotional distress and punitive damages, as this cause of action is not a
malpractice claim. Finally, Plaintiff requests to withdraw Count V and file an amended pleading.

In reply Defendants argues that Plaintiff’s arguments regarding Count I are essentially
asking this Court to reconsider its decision on Defendants’ previous motion to dismiss, and that it
is procedurally improper to raise make this request in a response to a motion to dismiss. Further,
even if the Court were to consider Plaintiff’s request, it would be improper to grant the motion to
reconsider because the HIP AA Protective Order was available evidence at the time the previous
motion to dismiss was heard, and Plaintiff’s arguments regarding Quigg add nothing to the
arguments Plaintiff already made regarding Quigg. Next, Defendants argue that there is no intent
or bad faith requirement that must be met in order for the courts to apply the doctrine of judicial
estoppel, instead those are factors which the courts may consider. Further, emotional distress
damages are unavailable, and nothing discussed by the Defendants in the press exceed the scope
of what was discussed at trial. Defendants then argue that a claim may not seek only punitive
damages, and because the underlying emotional damages and damages for lost wages are
unavailable punitive damages are also unavailable. Next, Defendants argue that the Court should
dismiss Count V with prejudice pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-1009(b). Finally, Defendants argue
that the Court should not grant Plaintiff’s request to file an amended pleading as he does not
indicate how that pleading would cure the current deficiencies.
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[n sur-reply Plaintiff argues that Plaintiff’s violation of the HIPAA Protective Order
constitutes a violation of the MHDDCA. Plaintiff then argues that punitive damages are
appropriate in this case given the highly private nature of the information which was disclosed.
Further, Plaintiff argues that the HIPPA Protective Order is not newly found information, as it
was referenced in the initial complaint. Next, Plaintiff argues that the intent to deceive is
necessary to apply judicial estoppel. Finally, Plaintiff argues that he should be allowed to file his
Second Amended Complaint as it makes only minimal changes to Count I.

OPINION OF THE COURT

A Section 2-615 motion attacks the legal sufficiency of a complaint. Beahringer v. Page,
204 111.2d 363, 369 (2003); Weather-man v. Gary Wheaton Bank of Fox Valley, N.A., 186 111.2d
472,491 (1999), The motion does not raise affirmative factual defenses, but rather alleges only
defects on the face of the complaint. Beahringer, 204 Il1. 2d at 369. When considering a Section
2-615 motion to dismiss, pleadings are to be liberally construed so as to do justice between the
opposing parties. Abbott v. Amoco Oil Co.,249 1ll. App, 3d 774, 778 (2d Dist. 1993). All well
pleaded facts within the four comers of the complaint are regarded as admitted and true, together
with all reasonable inferences drawn in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs. /d Illinois is a
fact-pleading jurisdiction. See, e.g., Marshall v. Burger King Corp.,222 Ill. 2d 422, 429 (2006);
Weiss v. Waterhouse Securities, Inc., 208 111.2d 439, 451 (2004). While the plaintiff is not
required to set forth evidence in the complaint, the plaintiff must allege facts sufficient to bring a
claim within a legally recognized cause of action Cizy of Chicago v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 213
11L. 2d 351, 368-69 (2004); Chandler v. Hllinois Central R.R. Co., 207 111.2d 331, 348 (2003);
Vernon v. Schuster, 179 111.2d 338, 344 (1997). Because Illinois is a fact-pleading jurisdiction,
the plaintiffs must allege facts, not mere conclusions, to establish their claim as a viable cause of
action. See Napleton v. Vill. of Hinsdale, 229 111. 2d 296, 305 (2008); Iseberg v. Gross, 227 1ll.
2d 78, 86 (2007).

Count I

In his Sur-Reply, Plaintiff seems to suggest that because Defendants’ arguments for
dismissing Count I are procedural in nature they are somehow not worthy of consideration. The
Court vehemently disagrees with this sentiment. The rules of procedure are necessary for the
efficient execution of the Court’s duties. To flout them disrespects the Court’s time and makes
this task more difficult. By failing to comply with proper procedure, Plaintiff has transformed a
routine motion to dismiss into a three-pronged motion to dismiss, for leave to file an amended
complaint and to reconsider. Plaintiff has presented his request as leave to file an amended Count
I, but in essence what he is actually doing is asking this Court to reconsider its previous dismissal
of Count I with prejudice. However, Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File a Second Amended
Complaint, Response, and Sur-Reply are not appropriate places to make this request.
Accordingly, Count [ is stricken without leave to replead.
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Count IV

After considering Defendants’ previous Motion to Dismiss, the Court determined that
Plaintiff was estopped from seeking to recover damages for his lost firture earnings.! According
to the Illinois Supreme Court the following procedure should be followed to determine whether
or not to apply the doctrine of Judicial Estoppel:

“We believe the procedural and analytical sequence should proceed as follows.
First, the trial court must determine whether the prerequisites for application of
judicial estoppel are met. In this respect, the party to be estopped must have (1)
taken two positions, (2) that are factually inconsistent, (3) in separate judicial or
quasi-judicial administrative proceedings, (4) intending for the trier of fact to
accept the truth of the facts alleged, and (5) have succeeded in the first proceeding
and received some benefit from it. Runge, 234 1ll. 2d at 132; Jones, 223 1ll. 2d at
598; Caballero, 206 Ill. 2d at 80. We note, even if all factors are found, intent to
deceive or mislead is not necessarily present, as inadvertence or mistake may
account for positions taken and facts asserted. Second, if all prerequisites have
been established, the trial court must determine whether to apply judicial
estoppel—an action requiring the exercise of discretion. Multiple factors may
inform the court's decision, among them the significance or impact of the party's
action in the first proceeding, and, as noted, whether there was an intent to
deceive or mislead, as opposed to the prior position having been the result of
inadvertence or mistake.”

Seymour v. Collins, 2015 IL 118432, 47, 39 N.E.3d 961

Accordingly, if the prerequisite elements are met, the Court may, at its discretion, apply the
doctrine of judicial estoppel. The intent to deceive is merely one of the factors the Court should
consider when exercising its discretion and not a required element. Accordingly, it was within
this Court’s discretion to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel to Plaintiff’s request for damages
for lost future earnings. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s request for damages for lost future earnings is
hereby stricken.

Plaintiff also seeks to recover damages for the emotional distress cause by Defendants’
disclosure of his medical information. “It is only when the attorney has reason to know that a
breach of his fiduciary duty is likely to cause emotional distress, for reasons other than pecuniary
loss, that damages will be given as compensation for mental suffering.” Doe v. Roe, 289 Il1. App.
3d 116, 130, 681 N.E.2d 640, 650 (1st Dist. 1997). On a Section 2-615 Motion the Court must
make all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-movant. It is a reasonable
inference that Defendants would have had reason to know that unnecessary publication of the
Plaintiff’s mental health information could have resulted in increased emotional distress.
Accordingly, the alleged damages for emotional distress are sufficiently plead.

! While a decision had already been made on this point the Court will consider Plaintiff's arguments on the matter.
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Additionally, Plaintiff seeks recovery for punitive damages. “A fiduciary relationship
may arise as a matter of law by virtue of the parties' relationship, e.g., attorney-client, or it may
arise as a result of the special circumstances of the parties' relationship where one places trust in
another so that the latter gains superiority and influence over the former.” State Security
Insurance Co. v. Frank B. Hall & Co., 258 1ll. App. 3d 588, 595, 630 N.E.2d 940, 945 (1st Dist.
1994). In this instance, alleged breach of fiduciary duty arises out of Defendants’ obligations to
the Plaintiff as their client. Therefore, the gravamen of the claim is one of legal malpractice. “In
all cases, whether in tort, contract or otherwise, in which the plaintiff seeks damages by reason
of legal, medical, hospital, or other healing art malpractice, no punitive, exemplary, vindictive or
aggravated damages shall be allowed.” 735 ILCS 5/2-1115. Accordingly, punitive damages are
not recoverable in this action, and Plaintiff’s request for punitive damages is stricken.

Finally, Plaintiff seeks attorneys’ fees as part of his punitive damages. “Illinois generally
follows the ‘American Rule’: absent statutory authority or a contractual agreement between the
parties, each party to litigation must bear its own attomey fees and costs, and may not recover
those fees and costs from an adversary.” Morris B. Chapman & Associates v. Kitzman, 193 111
2d 560, 572, 739 N.E.2d 1263, 1271 (2000). Plaintiff has not alleged that the parties had any
agreement which provides for recovery of attorneys’ fees, nor does he point to any statute.
Accordingly, Plaintiff’s request for attorneys’ fees is stricken.

Count V

To state a cause of action for reckless infliction of emotional distress, “[t]he plaintiff
must plead facts which indicate: (1) that the defendant's conduct was extreme and ousageous; (2)
that the defendant knew that there was a high probability that his conduct would cause severe
emotional distress; and (3) that the conduct in fact caused severe emotional distress.” Kolegas v.
Heftel Broadcasting Corp., 154 1ll. 2d 1, 20, 607 N.E.2d 201, 211 (1992). The alleged
misconduct in this action (e.g. creating a press release, making statements to the press, and
posting links to one’s website) are all fairly typical actions that attorneys and law firms take after
winning a big case. While the conduct may have been wrongful (that is yet to be determined), it
does not rise to the level of extreme and outrageous. Accordingly, pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-
1009(b), the Court grants Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Count V with prejudice.

Motion for Leave to File Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint

Upon review the Court finds that the proposed Second Amended Complaint does not cure
any of the defects in Plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary duty claim, nor is it appropriate to replead
Plaintiff’s MHDDCA claim which was previously dismissed with prejudice. Accordingly,
Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint is denied.
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N THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILEINOIS:
COUNTY:DEPARTMENT = LAW. DIVISION

! Iamu“ s

Vs.

N N o N ¢

([\

2

T )CaseNo 17 1004610
BURKE WISE MORRISSEY &
KAVENY, LLC; an [llinois Professional. ) !’r‘esidithudge:;Hdn."Mar_'g__aer_A- Brennar
Limited: Llablhty Companiy, DAVID.J. )
RASHID, and ELIZABETH A, KAVENY, .. Calendaiz N .
-Indmdually, and as agents, servants 2
-And employces of BURKE WISE )
MORRISSEY & KAVENY. LLC., )
Aan WinoisProfessional Limited Liability )
Company; joirtlyand severally )
Dcfendants )

" “ORDER

THIS MATTER commg beforethie court on PLMNTIFF ’S REPLY TO.
DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION
OF THIS COURT’S APRiL 5;2018, ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS? 2-619:1
MOTIONTO DISMISS COUNTT(MHDDCA) AND OCTOBER 4,2018, ORDER
GRANT!NG DEFENDANTS" 2:615 Mcmom TO DISMISS COUNT 1 AS: AMENDED,
due notice given, the court fully advised in the premise;

1T IS HEREBY ORDEREL:

1. PlaintitPs mofich i denied, 5)‘8 ! ~ A U\D
2. “The February, 11,202} status daté is stiicken. A30F X
3.- Furthér tase manapement conference will take place (visZoom) on November 5;2020 Ab
at"11:00 @ini. af which poiatthe couit will consider seu.mgutnah date agd-othier matters
which may be before:the:court.

Juidgie Margaret A, Brénnan
AUE 13 2
Circuit Gourt ~ 1546

Documcnt Prepared by
Thormas M. Paris, Esq. p
55 West Monroe Street, Suite 5330+
Chicago, Hlinois-60603.
(312)/759-1600
ip@tomparistaw:coin:

HOITR
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FILED
10/7/2021 2:15 PM

APPEAL TO THE APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS  [RISY. MARTINEZ

BURKE WISE MORRISSEY & KAVENY, LLC,
an Illinois Professional Limited Liability
Company, DAVID J. RASHID, and

CIRCUIT CLERK
FIRST DISTRICT COOK COUNTY, IL
2 2017L004610
S FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY 15122958
] I )
= ) On Appeal from the Circuit Court of
0 )Cook County
o Plaintiff, )
g V. )Circuit Court No. 2017 L 004610
S )
i
3
3

)
)
)
ELIZABETH A. KAVENY, individually, and )
as agents, servants, and employees of BURKE )
WISE MORRISSEY & KAVENY, LLC, )
an Illinois Professional Limited Liability )
Company, jointly and severally, )

)

)

Defendants.
NOTICE OF APPEAL
Adam R. Vaught (avaught@hinshawlaw.com)
Hinshaw & Culbertson LLP

151 North Franklin Street, Suite 2500
Chicago, IL 60606

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT Plaintiff-Appellant, | hcreoy
appeals the following orders:

1. April 5, 2018, granting Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Counts I, 11, 1l and V
with prejudice.

2. October 4, 2018, denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Reconsider and dismissing Count

VI of Plaintiff’s complaint with prejudice.

August 13, 2020, Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Reconsider.

4. March 5, 2021, Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File an Amended
Complaint with negligence count and reinstate the remedy of disgorgement of
fees and denying Plaintiff’s Motion to allow a jury to resolve the issue of
damages, or in the alternative, for the court to impanel and advisory jury.

5. July 23, 2021, denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Reconsider the Court’s April 5, 2018,
and October 4, 2018, orders and leave to add a count to the pending complaint.

.
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All orders were made final and appealable by virtue of Plaintiff voluntarily dismissing
the remaining pending count on September 9, 2021.

By this appeal, Plaintiff-Appellant, | \vi!| ask the Appellate Court to
reverse the orders of April 4, 2018, October 4, 2018, August 13, 2020, and March 5, 2021, and
remand this cause with directions to reinstate all counts of the complaint for trial on the merits as
to all claims, or for such other or further relief as the Appellate Court may deem proper.

Thomas M. Paris Respectfully Submitted,
55 W. Monroe, Suite 3330

Chicago, IL 60603

(312) 759-1600 By: /s/ Jhomas /M. cPaxis
tp@tomparislaw.com

ARDC #6209691

FILED DATE: 10/7/2021 2:15 PM 2017L004610
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CERTIFICATE & AFFIDAVIT OF DELIVERY (PERSONALLY OR BY MAIL)

The undersigned hereby certifies under penalties of perjury as approved by law pursuant
to 735 ILCS 5/1-109, that the above Notice and any attached pleadings were [ ] personally
delivered, [ ] faxed, [ ] placed in the U.S. mail [X] via electronic mail at 55 W. Monroe Street,
Chicago, Illinois 60603 with postage prepaid and directed to the parties at the address(es) set
forth above before 5:00 p.m. on October 7, 2021.

/s Thomas M. Paris

FILED DATE: 10/7/2021 2:15 PM 2017L004610
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2022 IL App (Ist) 211283

FIFTH DIVISION
October 7, 2022

No. 1-21-1283

IN THE
APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

JOHN DOE, Appeal from the Circuit Court of,
Cook County.

Plaintiff-Appellant,
V.

)
)
)
)
)
)
BURKE WISE MORRISSEY & KAVENY, LLC, )
an Illinois Professional Liability Company; and )
DAVID J. RASHID and ELIZABETH A. )
KAVENY, Individually, and as Agents, Servants, )
and Employees of Burke Wise Morrissey ) No. 17 L 004610
& Kaveny, LLC, an Illinois Professional Limited )
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Liability Company, Jointly and Severally,
Defendants
(Burke Wise Morrissey & Kaveny, LLC, an Illinois

Professional Limited Liability Company, and
Elizabeth A. Kaveny, Defendants-Appellees).

Hon. Margaret A. Brennan,
Judge Presiding.

PRESIDING JUSTICE CONNORS delivered the judgment of the court, with opinion.
Justices Cunningham and Delort concurred in the judgment and opinion.

OPINION
11 Plaintiff, known for the purposes of this appeal as John Doe,* appeals from an order of the

circuit court that, pursuant to section 2-615 of the Code of Civil Procedure (Code) (735 ILCS 5/2-

1This court previously granted plaintiff’s request to use a fictitious name.
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615 (West 2014)), dismissed his claim that defendants, Burke Wise Morrissey & Kaveny, LLC,
and Elizabeth A. Kaveny, violated the Mental Health and Developmental Disabilities
Confidentiality Act (Act) (740 ILCS 110/1 et seq. (West 2014)). On appeal, Doe contends that the
Act authorizes his cause of action. We reverse and remand.

12 I. BACKGROUND

13 Defendants represented Doe in a medical malpractice action against a hospital and other
medical staff. The subject incident was a suicide attempt that Doe made after he was admitted to
the emergency room. In that litigation, the hospital sought a qualified protective order under the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) (42 U.S.C. § 1320d (2012))
to gain access to Doe’s protected health information. The hospital also requested a subpoena under
the Act. At the end of the ensuing jury trial, Doe was awarded over $4 million. Subsequently, in
May 2015, defendants issued a press release related to the medical malpractice trial. The press
release described Doe’s diagnoses, the suicide attempt at the hospital that led to his injuries, and
the effects of his injuries. Kaveny also commented on the case and Doe’s history for an article in
the Chicago Daily Law Bulletin (Law Bulletin). The press release and article included Doe’s real
name. Both items were attached to the complaint and reviewed on appeal.

T4  On May 5, 2017, Doe filed a multi-count complaint against defendants, with count I
asserting that defendants violated the Act by wrongly disclosing confidential information about
Doe’s mental health and diagnoses. According to the complaint, Kaveny did not have Doe’s
informed consent to disclose the confidential information that was contained in the Law Bulletin
article, which later appeared in other publications as well. Doe asserted that, as a proximate result
of the wrongful disclosure, defendants were liable for the damages he sustained. The other counts

of the complaint are not at issue in this appeal.

SUBMITTED - 22174300 - Kimberly Jansen - 4/5/2023 5:12 PM



129097
No. 1-21-1283

15 Defendants moved to dismiss count | of Doe’s complaint under section 2-615 of the Code
(735 ILCS 5/2-615 (West 2014)). Defendants asserted, in part, that the Act did not apply to them
because they did not have a therapeutic relationship with Doe. Further, the information disclosed
in the press release was public because Doe testified about the information at the medical
malpractice trial. Doe also waived the confidentiality of his records by putting his medical
condition at issue in the medical malpractice litigation.

16 In response, Doe stated that the Act prohibited the release of any information that would
identify someone as a recipient of mental health services, which was the information disclosed in
the press release. Doe asserted that defendants’ redisclosure of his protected mental health
information violated sections 5(d) and 10(a)(8) of the Act (740 ILCS 110/5(d), 10(a)(8) (West
2014)).

17  After a hearing on April 5, 2018, the court dismissed count | with prejudice. The court
stated that a therapeutic relationship was required for the Act to apply. The court also stated that
“this was following a public trial and trials are public.”

8  On May 15, 2018, Doe filed an amended complaint that included new allegations for his
claim under the Act. The court struck the claim without leave to replead.

19  On April 13, 2020, Doe filed a motion to reconsider the orders that dismissed count | and
struck the amended claim. Doe asserted, in part, that defendants violated the HIPAA order that
was entered in the medical malpractice case, which in turn violated the Act. Doe also noted that
the Act was amended in 2015 to clarify that a therapeutic relationship is not an element of a cause
of action. After a hearing on August 13, 2020, the court denied the motion to reconsider and stated

that the claim under the Act was still dismissed with prejudice.
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110 On August 31, 2021, Doe filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss a remaining count in his
complaint. All of the other counts had previously been dismissed with prejudice. On September 9,
2021, the court dismissed the remaining count without prejudice, and Doe appealed.

111 I1. ANALYSIS

12 On appeal, Doe contends that the plain language of the Act authorizes his cause of action.
Doe states that the information that defendants disclosed was protected by the Act because it was
not only received from Doe himself but was obtained from his medical records and the depositions
of his treating physicians. Doe argues that defendants were allowed to use his mental health records
in the medical malpractice litigation because his mental health was at issue, but the Act prohibited
the defendants from redisclosing what they knew except in connection with that litigation. Doe
further asserts that defendants violated the Act by disclosing information protected by HIPAA.
Doe also states that the amended version of the Act makes clear that a therapeutic relationship is
not needed to establish liability.

113 Doe’s claim was dismissed with prejudice under section 2-615 of the Code. The question
on review from that dismissal “is whether the allegations of the complaint, when construed in the
light most favorable to the plaintiff and taking all well-pleaded facts and all reasonable inferences
that may be drawn from those facts as true, are sufficient to establish a cause of action upon which
relief may be granted.” Napleton v. Village of Hinsdale, 229 Ill. 2d 296, 305 (2008). “At this
pleading stage, a plaintiff is not required to prove his case and need only allege sufficient facts to
state all elements of the cause of action.” Nelson v. Quarles & Brady, LLP, 2013 IL App (1st)
123122, 127. The only matters to be considered are the pleading’s allegations themselves
(Urbaitis v. Commonwealth Edison, 143 Ill. 2d 458, 475 (1991)), but exhibits attached to the

complaint are part of the pleading for a motion to dismiss (Thompson v. N.J., 2016 IL App (1st)
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142918, 1 28). A claim should not be dismissed under section 2-615 unless no set of facts can be
proved that would entitle the plaintiff to recover. Napleton, 229 Ill. 2d at 305.

14 One of the main purposes of the Act is to protect the confidentiality of records and
communications of people who receive mental health services. House v. SwedishAmerican
Hospital, 206 Ill. App. 3d 437, 442 (1990). The Act generally prohibits the disclosure of such
information (Laurent v. Brelji, 74 1ll. App. 3d 214, 216 (1979)), stating that “[a]ll records and
communications shall be confidential and shall not be disclosed except as provided in this Act.”
740 ILCS 110/3(a) (West 2014). A record is “any record kept by a therapist or by an agency in the
course of providing mental health or developmental disabilities service to a recipient concerning
the recipient and the services provided.” Id. 82. A therapist is “a psychiatrist, physician,
psychologist, social worker, or nurse providing mental health or developmental disabilities
services.” 1d. And a confidential communication or communication is “any communication made
by a recipient or other person to a therapist or to or in the presence of other persons during or in
connection with providing mental health or developmental disability services to a recipient.” Id.
The definition of “communication” includes information indicating that a person is receiving or
has received mental health or developmental disabilities services. Id. “Any person aggrieved” by
a violation of the Act “may sue for damages, an injunction, or other appropriate relief.” 1d. § 15.
Through the Act, “[t]he General Assembly has made a strong statement about the importance of
keeping mental health records confidential.” Mandziara v. Canulli, 299 Ill. App. 3d 593, 599
(1998).

115 Doe’s complaint sufficiently alleged a cause of action under the Act. Taking all reasonable
inferences that can be drawn from the alleged facts as true, the information that defendants

disclosed in the press release and Law Bulletin were records and communications under the Act.
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As Doe’s attorneys in the medical malpractice case, defendants would have received information
about Doe’s condition and mental health history. Defendants’ statements in the press release and
Law Bulletin, at a minimum, revealed that Doe received mental health services at a particular
hospital. The statements also noted Doe’s diagnosis when he arrived at the hospital, summarized
what occurred during his hospital stay, and described his condition when he left the hospital. That
defendants themselves were not providing Doe with mental health services does not relieve them
of potential liability. Illinois has permitted a claim under the Act even where the defendant was
not a provider of mental health services. See Johnson v. Lincoln Christian College, 150 Ill. App.
3d 733, 743-44 (1986) (a student sufficiently alleged a cause of action under the Act against his
college, which allegedly redisclosed information learned from the student’s therapist to faculty
members, students, and members of the student’s family).

116  Further, to the extent that Doe consented to disclosing his mental health information to
defendants for the medical malpractice litigation, defendants’ subsequent press release and
statements in the Law Bulletin fall under section 5(d) of the Act, which states that “[n]o person or
agency to whom any information is disclosed under this Section may redisclose such information
unless the person who consented to the disclosure specifically consents to such redisclosure.” 740
ILCS 110/5(d) (West 2014). The medical malpractice trial invoked an exception to the Act’s
prohibition on disclosure found in section 10(a)(1), which provides that records and
communications may be disclosed “in a civil, criminal or administrative proceeding” where the
recipient introduces his mental condition or any aspect of the services he received for that condition
as an element of his claim or defense. Id. § 10(a)(1). Section 10(a)(1) authorized disclosing Doe’s

records and communications for the medical practice litigation, but defendants’ alleged subsequent
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broadcast of Doe’s mental health history appears to be beyond the bounds of that proceeding. Doe
sufficiently alleged that defendants violated the Act.

117 Defendants try to avoid the Act’s sweep by asserting that Doe waived confidentiality by
testifying in detail at the medical malpractice trial. In support, defendants rely on Novak v.
Rathnam, 106 Ill. 2d 478, 484 (1985), where a psychiatrist’s testimony on behalf of a defendant’s
insanity defense at a criminal trial waived the confidentiality of that information for a subsequent
proceeding. In Novak, however, there were no limits placed on the psychiatrist’s testimony in the
underlying criminal trial. Here, Doe’s complaint states that the information shared at the medical
malpractice trial was subject to a qualified protective order under HIPAA. Generally, such orders

restrict how health information is used, prohibiting * ‘the parties from using or disclosing [the

information] for any purpose other than the litigation or proceeding for which such information

was requested,” ” and requiring “ ‘the return to the covered entity or destruction of [the
information] *** at the end of the litigation or proceeding.” ” Haage v. Zavala, 2020 IL App (2d)
190499, 19 (quoting 45 C.F.R. § 164.512(e)(1)(v)(A), (B) (2018)). We make no comment about
whether defendants violated HIPAA and whether such a violation would also violate the Act. For
the purpose of this appeal, the complaint sufficiently alleged that the information shared at the
medical malpractice trial had restrictions on its use, such that Doe did not waive the Act’s
protections by testifying.

118 Defendants rely on Quigg v. Walgreen Co., 388 Ill. App. 3d 696 (2009), to defeat Doe’s
claim. However, the disclosure alleged here is far different from the disclosure that occurred in
that case. In Quigg, a pharmacy that disclosed a woman’s prescription profile to her ex-husband

could not be held liable under the Act because the pharmacy was not in a therapeutic relationship

with the woman. Id. at 703. The court stated that only a therapist or agency in a therapeutic
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relationship with the recipient of mental health services could be held liable under the Act. Id; see
also Suarez v. Pierard, 278 Ill. App. 3d 767, 770 (1996) (pharmacist who disclosed the plaintiff’s
confidential information could not be sued under the Act where the interaction between the
pharmacist and the plaintiff was a “routine transaction” and did not constitute therapy under the
Act). As opposed to a pharmacy-customer interaction, Doe’s records and communications were
created in the course of addressing Doe’s mental health in the presence of physicians and nurses,
who were “therapists” under the Act. See 740 ILCS 110/2 (West 2014) (“therapist” includes a
psychiatrist, physician, or nurse providing mental health or developmental disabilities services).
119 Moreover, Quigg’s finding that only therapists or agencies engaging in therapeutic
relationships can be liable under the Act is unsupported by authority. For that proposition, Quigg
cited a sentence from Martino v. Family Service Agency of Adams County, 112 Ill. App. 3d 593,
599-600 (1982), which noted that, according to a 1976 report, the Act was “intended to include all
those persons entering into a therapeutic relationship with clients.” From there, Quigg made the
leap that the Act only included those persons entering into a therapeutic relationship with clients
and only those persons could be liable. 388 Ill. App. 3d at 702-03. Martino did not state or hold
that only therapists and those engaging in therapeutic relationships can be liable under the Act.
Quigg’s limitation of liability does not stand on solid authority. Further, the plain language of the
Act authorizes Doe’s action against defendants here, where defendants disclosed Doe’s records
and communications and no exception has been shown to apply. See People ex rel. Madigan v.
Wildermuth, 2017 IL 120763, 1 17 (the most reliable indicator of legislative intent is the statute’s
language itself, given its plain and ordinary meaning).

120 The parties disagree about the effect of a 2015 amendment to the Act, which added the

provision that “records and communications made or created in the course of providing mental
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health or developmental disabilities services shall be protected from disclosure regardless of
whether the records and communications are made or created in the course of a therapeutic
relationship.” Pub. Act 99-28 (eff. Jan. 1, 2016) (amending 740 ILCS 110/3). Defendants’
statements in the press release and Law Bulletin were made in May 2015, before the amendment’s
effective date. We do not need to resolve whether the amendment applies to defendants’ statements
because, as discussed above, the records and communications that defendants disclosed were made
to therapists as defined by section 2 of the Act as it existed in 2015. See 740 ILCS 110/2 (West
2014). The information that defendants allegedly disclosed was protected by the prior version of
the Act, and the amendment does not change our result.

21 I11. CONCLUSION

122 Doe sufficiently alleged a claim against defendants under the Act in count | of his
complaint. The judgment of the circuit court is reversed, and the matter is remanded for further
proceedings.

123 Reversed and remanded.
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Doe v. Burke Wise Morrissey & Kaveny, LLC, 2022 IL App (1st) 211283

Decision Under Review: Appeal from the Circuit Court of Cook County, No. 17-L-004610;
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Attorneys Thomas M. Paris, of Chicago, for appellant.
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